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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

Civil Action No.  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and  
STATE OF COLORADO, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

ROCKY MOUNTAIN BOTTLE 
COMPANY, LLC., 

Defendant.

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the United States 

and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request of the Administrator of the United 

States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the State of Colorado (“Colorado”), 

acting at the request of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (“CDPHE”), 

file this Complaint and allege as follows: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This is a civil action against Rocky Mountain Bottle Company, LLC

(“Defendant” or “RMBC”), pursuant to Section 113(b) of the Clean Air Act (“CAA” or “Act”), 

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and Sections 121 and 122 of the Colorado Air Pollution Prevention and 

Control Act (the “Colorado Act”), Colo. Rev. Stat. § 25-7-120 and 121. Plaintiffs seek injunctive 

relief and civil penalties against RMBC for violations of the Prevention of Significant 
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Deterioration (“PSD”) provisions of Part C of Title I of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7470-7492; the 

Non-attainment New Source Review (“NNSR”) provisions in Part D of Title I of the Act, 42 

U.S.C. §§ 7501-7515; the federally enforceable Colorado state implementation plan (“SIP”) 

adopted by Colorado and approved by EPA pursuant to Section 110 of the Act, 42 U.S.C.  

§ 7410, which incorporates and/or implements the above listed federal PSD and NNSR 

requirements; and the permitting requirements of Title V of the Act (“Title V”), 42 U.S.C.  

§§ 7661-7661f, and Colorado’s federally-enforceable Title V Operating Permit Program, 5 Colo. 

Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part C.   

2. The violations alleged in this Complaint occurred at RMBC’s glass manufacturing 

plant located in Jefferson County, at 10619 West 50th Avenue, Wheat Ridge, Colorado (the 

“Facility”). RMBC made a major modification to the Facility without first obtaining the required 

preconstruction permit authorizing the construction and/or modification and subsequent 

operation of Furnaces A, B, and C; failed to install and employ best available control technology 

(“BACT”) to control emissions of nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) and sulfur dioxide (“SO2”) under the 

PSD program and conduct air modeling analysis and comply with other requirements of 

Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3; failed to achieve the lowest 

achievable emissions rate (“LAER”) to control emissions of NOx, a precursor of ozone and 

particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to a nominal 10 micrometers 

(“PM-10”), and SO2, a PM-10 precursor under the NNSR program, obtain offsets, and comply 

with other requirements of Regulation No. 3; and failed to obtain a Title V Operating Permit that 

includes the applicable BACT limits for NOx and SO2 and LAER limits for NOx (a PM-10 and 

ozone precursor) and SO2 (a PM-10 precursor). 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 

Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345 and 1355. 

4. Pursuant to Section 113(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), this Court has 

personal jurisdiction over RMBC, which is incorporated and doing business in the State of 

Colorado. 

5. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, this Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the 

state law claims asserted by Colorado.  

6. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 113(b) of the Clean Air Act, 

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) and 1395(a) because the violations which 

are the basis of this Complaint occurred in this District, and RMBC’s headquarters and principal 

place of business are located in this District, and RMBC conducts business in this District.  

NOTICES 

7. The United States provided notice of the violations of the Act alleged herein to 

RMBC and to Colorado in accordance with Sections 113(a)(1) and (b) of the Clean Air Act, 42 

U.S.C. §§ 7413(a)(1) and (b). 

8. The 30-day period established in Section 113, 42 U.S.C. § 7413, between the 

notice of violation provided by the United States and the commencement of this civil action has 

elapsed. 

 DEFENDANT AND FACILITY 
 

9. RMBC is a Colorado limited liability company organized under the laws of the 

State of Colorado. 
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10. RMBC is a joint venture of MillerCoors, LLC (a joint venture of Molson Coors 

Brewing Company and SABMiller) and Owens-Brockway Glass Container, Inc.  

11. RMBC was converted to its present LLC form on July 30, 2003, from its prior 

form as Rocky Mountain Bottle Company (General Partnership). 

12. RMBC is a “person,” within the meaning of Section 302(e) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 7602(e). 

13. RMBC owns and operates the Facility. 

14. The Facility operates two natural-gas-fired end port regenerative glass-melting 

furnaces (Furnaces A & B) and one natural gas over-fire/oxy-fuel furnace (Furnace C). 

15. Per RMBC’s 1995 permit, the maximum production for the furnaces combined is 

1,000 tons of glass per day (365,000 tons/year). 

16. All three furnaces vent to the atmosphere through a common stack. 

17. RMBC has one dry lime scrubber and an electrostatic precipitator to control 

emissions from the combined stack for the furnaces. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 
 

18. As set forth in Section 101(b)(1), 42 U.S.C. § 7401(b)(1), the Act establishes a 

regulatory scheme designed to protect and enhance the quality of the nation’s air so as to 

promote the public health and welfare and the productive capacity of its population. 

The National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

19. Sections 108 and 109 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7408 and 7409, require EPA to 

promulgate national ambient air quality standards (“NAAQS”) to protect the public health and 

welfare for certain criteria air pollutants. Primary NAAQS are to be adequate to protect the 

Case 1:17-cv-01554   Document 1   Filed 06/26/17   USDC Colorado   Page 4 of 25



 5

public health, and secondary NAAQS are to be adequate to protect the public welfare, from any 

known or anticipated adverse effects associated with the presence of air pollutants in the ambient 

air. EPA has identified and promulgated primary and secondary NAAQS for the air pollutants 

NOx, ozone, SO2, and PM-10, among others, which are codified at 40 C.F.R. §§ 50.6, 50.9, 

50.10, 50.11 and 50.17. 

20. Under Section 107(d) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7407(d), each state is required to 

designate those areas within its boundaries where the air quality is better or worse than the 

NAAQS for each criteria pollutant, or where the air quality cannot be classified due to 

insufficient data. An area that meets the NAAQS for a particular pollutant is an “attainment” area 

with respect to such pollutant. An area that does not meet the NAAQS for a particular pollutant 

is a “non-attainment” area for such pollutant. 

21. The Facility is located in Jefferson County, Colorado. Jefferson County was 

designated as a non-attainment area for PM-10 and ozone during the time of the 1995-1999 

modifications referenced below, and is currently designated as nonattainment for the 8-hour 

ozone standard. 40 C.F.R. § 81.306. NOx is an ozone precursor, and NOx and SO2 are PM-10 

precursors. 

Prevention of Significant Deterioration Requirements 
 

22. Part C of Title I of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7470-7492, sets forth requirements for 

the Prevention of Significant Deterioration of air quality in those areas designated as either 

attainment or unclassifiable for purposes of meeting the NAAQS standards. These requirements 

are designed to protect public health and welfare; to assure that economic growth will occur in a 

manner consistent with the preservation of existing clean air resources; and to assure that any 
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decision to permit increased air pollution is made only after careful evaluation of all of the 

consequences of such a decision and after public participation in the decision-making process. 42 

U.S.C. § 7470. 

23. Section 165(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7475(a), and implementing regulations 

(herein referred to as the PSD regulations), prohibit the construction or modification of a major 

stationary source in any NAAQS attainment area unless a preconstruction PSD permit has been 

issued setting forth emission limitations for such facility which conform to the PSD regulations.  

The PSD regulations referred to in this complaint are the regulations that were in effect the years 

that the violations alleged in this complaint occurred. 

24. Section 169(1) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7479(1), defines “major emitting facility” 

as a specified stationary source that emits or has the potential to emit 100 tons per year (TPY) or 

more of any air pollutant, or any other source with the potential to emit 250 TPY or more of any 

air pollutant. 

25. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(1)(i) define a “major stationary 

source” as, inter alia, any stationary source that emits or has the potential to emit 250 tons per 

year or more of any air pollutant subject to regulation under the Act. 

26. Section 169(2)(C) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7479(2)(C), defines “construction” to 

include “modification” (as defined in Section 111(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(a)). 

“Modification” is defined in Section 111(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(a), to be “any change 

in, or change in the method of operation of, a stationary source which increases the amount of 

any air pollutant emitted by such source or which results in the emission of any air pollutant not 

previously emitted.” 
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27. Section 110 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7410, requires each state to adopt and submit 

to EPA for approval a SIP that provides for the attainment and maintenance of the NAAQS.  

Sections 110 and 161 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7410 and 7471, require that each SIP include a 

PSD permit program. 

28. EPA approved Colorado’s PSD program as part of the Colorado SIP on 

September 2, 1986 and the approval became effective that same date.  51 Fed. Reg. 31125.  EPA 

approved subsequent modifications to the portion of Colorado’s SIP related to Colorado’s PSD 

program, including approvals dated February 13, 1987, 52 Fed. Reg. 4622; June 15, 1987, 52 

Fed. Reg. 22638; December 1, 1988, 53 Fed. Reg. 48537; March 28, 1991, 56 Fed. Reg. 12850; 

June 17, 1992, 57 Fed. Reg. 27000; September 27, 1993, 58 Fed. Reg. 50269; and August 18, 

1994, 59 Fed. Reg. 42506. 

29. The Colorado SIP for PSD provides that no emission unit or source subject to that 

rule shall be constructed without obtaining an air construction permit that meets the requirements 

of that rule. The PSD provisions of the Colorado SIP can be found in the Colorado Air Quality 

Control Commission Common Provisions and Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-2 

and 1001-5. Since the Common Provisions and Regulation No 3. are part of the Colorado SIP, 

they are federally enforceable pursuant to Sections 110 and 113 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7410 

and 7413. 

30. 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(a) provides that the PSD regulations apply to the construction 

of any new major stationary source or any project at an existing major stationary source in an 

area designated as attainment or unclassifiable under Sections 107(d)(1)(A)(ii) or (iii) of the Act, 

42 U.S.C. § 7407(d)(1)(A)(ii) or (iii). 
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31. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(2)(i) define a “major modification” as 

any physical change or change in the method of operation of a “major stationary source” that 

would result in a significant net emissions increase of any pollutant subject to regulation under 

the Act. Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs.  

§ 1001-5, Section I.B.2; Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. 

Code Regs. CCR 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.35.B (1998). 

32. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(3)(i) define “net emissions increase” 

as the amount by which the sum of the following exceeds zero: 

a. Any increase in actual emissions from a particular physical change or change in 

method of operation at a stationary source; and  

b. Any other increases and decreases in actual emissions at the source that are 

contemporaneous with the particular change and are otherwise creditable.  

See “Common Provisions Regulation,” 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-2 Section I.G,“Net Emissions 

Increase” subsections a.i and ii (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation 

No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.36.a.i and ii (1998).  

33. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(12), define “BACT” as an emissions 

limitation based on the maximum degree of reduction for each regulated PSD pollutant that 

would be emitted from any proposed major modification while taking into account energy, 

environmental, and economic impacts and other costs. 42 U.S.C. § 7479(3).  See “Common 

Provisions Regulation,” 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-2 Section I.G, “Best Available Control 

Technology” (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code 

Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.12 (1998). 
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34. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(21) define “actual emissions” as the 

rate of emissions of a pollutant from an emissions unit which, as of a particular date, are the 

actual emissions, in tons per year, at which the unit emitted the pollutant during a two-year 

period which precedes the particular date and is representative of normal unit operation, and are 

calculated using actual operating hours, production rates, and types of materials processed, 

stored or combusted during the selected time period.  See “Common Provisions Regulation,” 5 

Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-2 Section I.G, “Actual Emissions,” subsections a and c (1995); 

Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part 

A, Section I.B.1.a and c (1998). 

35. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(23) define “significant,” and state 

that in reference to NOx and SO2 a significant net emissions increase is an emissions rate that 

would equal or exceed 40 tons or more per year of NOx, or 40 tons or more per year of SO2. 40 

C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(23)(i).  See “Common Provisions Regulation,” 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-2 

Section I.G, “significant,” subsection a (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission 

Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.57.a (1998). 

36. 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(i) prohibits the construction of any new major stationary source 

or any major modification without a permit which states that the source or modification would 

meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(j) through (r).  

37. 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(i)(2) and (3) provide that the requirements of 40 C.F.R. 

§§ 52.21(j) through (r) are applicable to any major source and any major modification that would 

be constructed in an area designated under the Act as in attainment with the NAAQS, with 

respect to each pollutant subject to regulation under the Act. 
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38. As set forth at 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(j)(2), a new major stationary source located in an 

attainment area must install and operate BACT, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(12), for each 

pollutant subject to regulation under the Act that it would have the potential to emit in significant 

amounts. 

39. An applicant for a permit to modify a stationary source is required to submit all 

information necessary to allow the permitting authority to perform any analysis or make any 

determination required in order to issue the appropriate permit. 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(n); Colorado 

Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part B, Section 

IV. B.2-3 (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code 

Regs. § 1001-5, Part B, Section IV.B.2-3 (1998). 

40. The Colorado SIP states that “no person shall commence construction of any 

stationary source or modification of a stationary source without first obtaining or having a valid 

construction permit ….” Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. 

Code Regs. § 1001-5, Sections I.A and III.A.1 (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control 

Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part B, Sections I.A and III.A.1 

(1998). 

41. The Colorado SIP further requires, inter alia, that a source subject to PSD 

regulations undergo a control technology review, install BACT, and conduct air quality 

modeling. Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 

1001-5, Sections IV.D.3.a and IV.D.3.a.i-iv (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission 

Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part B, Sections IV. D.3.a. and IV D.3.a.i-vi 

(1998).  
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Nonattainment New Source Review Requirements 

42. Part D of Title I of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7501-7515, sets forth provisions that 

direct States to include in their SIPs requirements that provide for reasonable progress towards 

attainment of the NAAQS in non-attainment areas. Section 172(c)(5) of the Act, 42 U.S.C.  

§ 7502(c)(5), provides that SIPs shall require permits for the construction and operation of new 

or modified major stationary sources anywhere in the non-attainment area, in accordance with 

Section 173 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7503, in order to facilitate “reasonable further progress” 

towards attainment of the NAAQS. 

43. Section 173 of Part D of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7503, requires that in order to obtain 

a permit in a non-attainment area, the source must, among other things: (a) obtain federally 

enforceable emission offsets at least as great as the new source’s emissions; (b) comply with the 

LAER as defined in Section 171(3) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7501(3); and (c) conduct an air 

quality impact analysis, including analysis of alternative sites, sizes, production processes, and 

environmental control techniques for the proposed source and demonstrate that the benefits of 

the proposed source significantly outweigh the environmental and social costs imposed as a 

result of its location, construction, or modification. 

44. As set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 52.24, no major stationary source shall be constructed 

or modified in any non-attainment area as designated in 40 C.F.R. Part 81, Subpart C (non-

attainment area) to which any applicable implementation plan applies, if the emissions from such 

source will cause or contribute to concentrations of any pollutant for which a NAAQS is 

exceeded in such area, unless, as of the time of application for a permit for such construction, 

such plan meets the requirements of Part D, Title I, of the Act. 
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45. A state may comply with Sections 172 and 173 of the Act by having its own 

NNSR regulations, which must be at least as stringent as those set forth at 40 C.F.R. § 51.165, 

approved by EPA as part of the SIP. 

46. Sections 110(a)(2)(C) and (I) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7410(a)(2)(C) and (I), 

require that each SIP contain a program meeting the requirements of Part D of the Act for the 

pre-construction review and permitting of new and modified stationary sources located in or near 

areas designated as non-attainment for a criteria pollutant pursuant to Section 107(d) of the Act, 

42 U.S.C. § 7407(d). 

47. The Colorado SIP for NNSR provides that no emission unit or source subject to 

that rule shall be constructed without obtaining an air construction permit that meets the 

requirements of that rule. The NNSR provisions of the Colorado SIP can be found in the 

Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Common Provisions and Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. 

Code Regs. § 1001-2 and 1001-5. Since the Common Provisions and Regulation No. 3. are part 

of the Colorado SIP, they are federally enforceable pursuant to Sections 110 and 113 of the Act, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 7410 and 7413. 

48. For purposes of determining applicability of major NNSR review in a 

nonattainment area and the applicability of Regulation No. 3, Part B, Section IV.D.2, the 

Colorado SIP defines “major stationary source” as any stationary source of air pollutants which 

emits, or has the potential to emit, 100 TPY or more of any pollutant regulated under the Act for 

which the area is in nonattainment. Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 

5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Section I.B.3.a (applicable to NNSR) (1995). Colorado Air 

Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section 
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I.B.58, see “Major Stationary Source,” subsection a. (applicable to NNSR) (1998). As of May 

30, 1995, the Colorado SIP also required that LAER consist of the most stringent emissions limit 

contained in any SIP for such class or category of stationary source (unless the owner or operator 

of the proposed source demonstrates that such limits are not achievable). See “Common 

Provisions Regulation,” 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-2 Section I.G, “Lowest Achievable 

Emissions Rate” (1995); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. 

Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.32 (1998). See also Section 171(3)(A) of the Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 7501(3)(A). 

Requirements for Title V Operating Permits 

49. Title V of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7661-7661f, contains requirements for operating 

permit programs for certain sources, including “major sources” and any source required to have a 

NNSR and/or PSD permit. Section 502(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a). 

50. Section 502(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a), provides that, after the effective 

date of any permit program approved or promulgated under Title V of the Act, no source subject 

to Title V may operate except in compliance with a Title V permit. 

51. Pursuant to Section 502(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(b), on July 21, 1992, 

EPA promulgated regulations implementing the requirements of Title V and establishing the 

minimum elements of a major source operating permit program to be administered by any air 

pollution control agency. 57 Fed. Reg. 32,250 (July 21, 1992). These regulations are codified at 

40 C.F.R. Part 70. 

52. Section 502(d)(1) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(d)(1), calls upon each State to 

develop and submit to EPA an operating permit program to meet the requirements of Title V.  
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53. EPA granted interim approval of the Title V operating permit program submitted 

by the State of Colorado effective February 23, 1995. 60 Fed. Reg. 4563 (January 24, 1995); 40 

C.F.R. Part 70, Appendix A. Effective October 16, 2000, EPA granted full approval to 

Colorado’s Title V operating permit program. 65 Fed. Reg. 49919 (August 16, 2000).  

54. Section 503 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7661b, sets forth the requirement to submit a 

timely, accurate, and complete application for a permit, including information required to be 

submitted with the application. 

55. Section 504(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. 7661c(a), requires that each Title V permit 

include enforceable emission limitations and standards, a schedule of compliance, and other 

conditions necessary to assure compliance with applicable requirements, including those 

contained in a SIP. 

56. 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(a) and (c) require timely and complete permit applications for 

Title V permits with required information that must be submitted, and 40 C.F.R. § 70.6 specifies 

required permit content.  See also Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 

Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part C, Sections III and V (1995). 

57. 40 C.F.R. § 70.1(b) provides that “[a]ll sources subject to these regulations shall 

have a permit to operate that assures compliance by the source with all applicable requirements.” 

See also Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 

1001-5, Part C, Sections II and V (1995). 

58. 40 C.F.R. § 70.2 defines “applicable requirement” to include, “(1) Any standard 

or other requirement provided for in the applicable implementation plan approved or 

promulgated by EPA through rulemaking under Title I of the Act that implements the relevant 
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requirements of the Act, including any revisions to that plan promulgated in part 52 of this 

chapter….” See also Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code 

Regs. § 1001-5, Part C, Section V (1995). 

59. 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(b) provides that: “Any applicant who fails to submit any relevant 

facts or who has submitted incorrect information in a permit application shall, upon becoming 

aware of such failure or incorrect submittal, promptly submit such supplementary facts or 

corrected information. In addition, an applicant shall provide additional information as necessary 

to address any requirements that become applicable to the source after the date it filed a complete 

application but prior to release of a draft permit.” See also Colorado Air Quality Control 

Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part C, Section IV (1995). 

60. 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b) provides that no source subject to Part 70 requirements may 

operate without a permit issued under a Part 70 program. See also Colorado Air Quality Control 

Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part C, Section II. A. 1 and 2 

(1995). 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

61. At all times relevant to this Complaint, RMBC owned and operated the Facility, 

which manufactures glass containers for the food and beverage industry. 

62. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the Facility has been a “major stationary 

source” of NOx and SO2.  40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(1)(i); Colorado Air Quality Control Commission 

Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Sections I.B.3.a (applicable to NNSR) and 

I.B.3.b.ii (applicable to PSD) (1995);  Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 
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3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.58, “Major Stationary Source,” subsections 

a. (applicable to NNSR) and b.ii (applicable to PSD) (1998). 

63. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the Facility has been a “major emitting 

facility” for NOx and SO2, as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 7479(1). 

64. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the Facility was and is a “major source” 

within the meaning of Title V of the Act, the federal Title V regulations, and the Colorado Title 

V Program. 42 U.S.C. § 7661(2), 40 C.F.R. § 70.2; Colorado Air Quality Control Commission 

Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part C, et. seq.  

65. EPA conducted an investigation of RMBC and the Facility, which included a site 

inspection, two information requests issued under Section 114 of the Act, review of permitting 

history and emissions data, and analysis of other relevant information concerning construction 

and operation of the Facility.  On information and belief, the United States and Colorado allege 

the following based on the results of that investigation. 

66. Under the PSD and NNSR regulations, RMBC was required to submit a permit 

application containing complete and accurate information regarding modifications to Furnaces 

A, B, and C in or about 1995, 1996, and 1999 (the Furnace Expansion Project). The Furnace 

Expansion Project constituted a “major modification” for NOx (a PM-10 and ozone precursor) 

and SO2 (a PM-10 precursor) under the PSD and NNSR programs. 

67. RMBC applied for a “synthetic minor” New Source Review (“NSR”) permit 

modification to cover the Furnace Expansion Project. The application used proposed emission 

reductions of NOx and existing emission reductions of SO2 to calculate a less than “significant 

net emissions increase.” On June 29, 1995, CDPHE issued the “synthetic minor” NSR permit 
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modification largely based on RMBC’s representations made in its application. However, RMBC 

only installed and temporarily operated the proposed NOX controls on Furnace A before 

discontinuing any NOx controls on that Furnace. Also, RMBC never added NOx controls on 

Furnace B that would have offset expected NOx emission increases from the permitted increase 

in production, as represented in its permit application. In addition, the maximum amount of SO2 

reduction in the period contemporaneous to the Furnace Expansion Project that could be 

considered creditable was not sufficient to offset the permitted SO2 increases. The result was 

“significant net emission increases” in NOx and SO2.  

68. RMBC failed to apply for a PSD permit for NOx and a NNSR permit for NOx, a 

PM-10 and ozone precursor, and SO2, a PM-10 precursor, prior to these major modifications. 

69. As a result of RMBC’s failure to provide accurate and complete information in its 

Title V operating permit application or to properly supplement or correct its application, RMBC 

failed to obtain and operate the Facility pursuant to a proper or adequate Title V operating 

permit. The Title V operating permit did not contain emission limits for NOx or SO2 that reflect 

BACT or LAER. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(PSD Violations) 

 
70. Paragraphs 1 through 69 are incorporated herein by reference. 

71. At the Facility, RMBC constructed a “major modification,” as defined in the 

Clean Air Act, when it constructed its Furnace Expansion Project.  This “major modification” 

resulted in significant net emissions increases, as defined by 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(3)(i) and 5 

CCR 1001-5, Part D, Section II.A.23, of one or both of the following pollutants: NOx and SO2. 
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72. At times relevant hereto, RMBC violated/is in violation of Section 165(a) of the 

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7475(a), the PSD regulations set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 52.21, and the 

corresponding Colorado SIP, by undertaking such major modification and operating Furnaces A, 

B, and C at the Facility without first properly obtaining a PSD permit as required by the Act and 

the PSD regulations, and by failing to install and operate BACT for each pollutant as required by 

40 C.F.R. § 52.21(j)(2). 

73. Unless ordered by this Court, the violations of the Act alleged in this First Claim 

for Relief could continue. 

74. As provided in Section 113(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), the violations set 

forth above subject RMBC to injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $25,000 per day for 

each violation prior to January 30, 1997; up to $27,500 per day for each such violation between 

January 30, 1997 and March 15, 2004; up to $32,500 per day for each such violation between 

March 15, 2004, and January 12, 2009; up to $37,500 per day for each such violation occurring 

between January 12, 2009 and November 2, 2015; up to $93,750 per day for each such violation 

that occurred after November 2, 2015 and assessed on or after August 1, 2016 but before January 

15, 2017; and up to $95,284 per day for each such violation that occurred after November 2, 

2015 and assessed on or after January 15, 2017, pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation 

Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, as amended by 31 U.S.C. § 3701.  See 40 C.F.R. Part 

19, 69 Fed. Reg. 7126 (Feb. 13, 2004); 73 Fed. Reg. 75,340 (Dec. 11, 2008); 78 Fed. Reg. 

66643-01 (Nov. 6, 2013); 81 Fed. Reg. 43091-96 (July 1, 2016); 82 Fed. Reg. 3636 (Jan. 12, 

2017).  
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75. Further, as provided in C.R.S. §§ 25-7-121 and 122, the violations set forth above 

subject RMBC to injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $15,000 per day for each day of 

such violations. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF  
(Non-attainment New Source Review Violations) 

 
76. Paragraphs 1 through 75 are incorporated herein by reference. 

77. At times relevant hereto, RMBC constructed a “major modification,” as defined 

in the Clean Air Act, when it constructed its Furnace Expansion Project.  This major 

modification at the Facility occurred in a non-attainment area for PM-10, which is also currently 

a nonattainment area for ozone.  This major modification resulted in significant net emission 

increases of NOx, which is a precursor to PM-10 and ozone formation, and SO2, which is a 

precursor to PM-10. 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(23)(i). See “Common Provisions Regulation,” 5 Colo. 

Code Regs. § 1001-2 Section I.G, “significant,” subsection a (1995); Colorado Air Quality 

Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part A, Section I.B.57.a 

(1998). 

78. By undertaking such major modification and operating the Facility after the 

modification without properly obtaining a NNSR permit as required by the applicable SIP, 

RMBC violated/is in violation of the Act, including the requirements under 42 U.S.C. §§ 7501-

7515, to: (1) install, operate or achieve LAER for control of NOx and SO2; (2) obtain and 

operate with federally enforceable emission offsets at least as great as the modified source’s 

emissions; (3) certify that all other major sources that it owns or operates at the Facility are/were 

in compliance with the Act; and (4) conduct an air quality impact analysis, including a 
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demonstration that the benefits of the modification significantly outweigh/outweighed the 

environmental and social costs imposed as a result of the modification.   

79. At times relevant hereto, RMBC violated/is in violation of the NNSR provisions 

of Part D of Title I of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7501-7515, that EPA approved into the relevant 

Colorado SIP pursuant to Sections 110(a)(2)(C) and (I) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7410(a)(2)(C) 

and (I), and 40 C.F.R. § 51.165, by failing to comply with limits, terms, and conditions in 

permits issued pursuant to such programs; by failing to properly apply for and obtain necessary 

permits prior to performing a major modification and/or construction; and/or by failing to 

represent in its application, as necessary, the emission level or air quality consequences of 

proposed construction or modification. 

80. Unless ordered by this Court, the violations of the Act alleged in this Second 

Claim for Relief could continue. 

81. As provided in Section 113(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), the violations set 

forth above subject RMBC to injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $25,000 per day for 

each violation prior to January 30, 1997; up to $27,500 per day for each such violation between 

January 30, 1997 and March 15, 2004; up to $32,500 per day for each such violation between 

March 15, 2004, and January 12, 2009; up to $37,500 per day for each such violation occurring 

between January 12, 2009 and November 2, 2015; up to $93,750 per day for each such violation 

that occurred after November 2, 2015 and assessed on or after August 1, 2016 but before January 

15, 2017; and up to $95,284 per day for each such violation that occurred after November 2, 

2015 and assessed on or after January 15, 2017, pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation 

Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, as amended by 31 U.S.C. § 3701. See 40 C.F.R. Part 
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19, 69 Fed. Reg. 7126 (Feb. 13, 2004);  73 Fed. Reg. 75,340 (Dec. 11, 2008); 78 Fed. Reg. 

66643-01 (Nov. 6, 2013); 81 Fed. Reg. 43091-96 (July 1, 2016); 82 Fed. Reg. 3636 (Jan. 12, 

2017). 

82. Further, as provided in C.R.S. §§ 25-7-121 and 122, the violations set forth above 

subject RMBC to injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $15,000 per day for each day of 

such violations. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF  
(Title V Permit Program Violations) 

 
83. Paragraphs 1 through 82 are incorporated herein by reference. 

84. As alleged above, RMBC constructed a “major modification,” as defined under 

the aforesaid PSD and NNSR regulations, at the Facility when it constructed its Furnace 

Expansion Project.  As a result, this modification triggered the requirement to obtain 

preconstruction permits, including, among other things, the requirement to establish emission 

limits and operate in compliance with BACT and LAER for NOx and SO2. RMBC failed to 

comply with these requirements. 

85. On October 1, 2001, RMBC obtained a Title V Operating Permit for the Facility 

(last revised October 6, 2004).  

86. As a result of RMBC’s failure to provide accurate and complete information in its 

application or to properly supplement or correct its application, RMBC failed to obtain and 

operate the Facility pursuant to a proper or adequate Title V Operating Permit.  The Title V 

Operating Permit did not contain emission limits for NOx and SO2 that reflected LAER, as 

required by Part D of Title I of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7501-7515, that EPA approved into the 

relevant Colorado SIP pursuant to Sections 110(a)(2)(C) and (I) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. 
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§§ 7410(a)(2)(C) and (I), 40 C.F.R. § 51.165, and Colorado Air Quality Control Commission 

Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part C, Sections III and V (1995).  The Title V 

Operating Permit also did/does not contain NOx and SO2 emission limits that meet BACT and 

LAER, as required by Sections 502(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7661a(a), 40 C.F.R. §§ 70.1(b), 

70.6(a), and Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 

1001-5, Part C, Sections III and V (1995). 

87. RMBC thereafter operated and continues to operate the Facility without meeting 

such emission limits and without having a Title V Operating Permit that requires compliance 

with such emission limits or that contains a compliance plan for all applicable requirements for 

which the Facility is not in compliance. 

88. RMBC’s conduct violated/is in violation of Sections 502, 503, and 504 of the Act, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 7661a, 7661b, and 7661c, and the Colorado Title V Operating Permit Program, 

Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3, 5 Colo. Code Regs. § 1001-5, Part 

C, Sections III and V (1995). 

89. Unless ordered by this Court, the violations alleged in this Third Claim for Relief 

could continue. 

90. As provided in Section 113(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), the violations set 

forth above subject RMBC to injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $25,000 per day for 

each violation prior to January 30, 1997; up to $27,500 per day for each such violation between 

January 30, 1997 and March 15, 2004; up to $32,500 per day for each such violation between 

March 15, 2004, and January 12, 2009; up to $37,500 per day for each such violation occurring 

between January 12, 2009 and November 2, 2015; up to $93,750 per day for each such violation 
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that occurred after November 2, 2015 and assessed on or after August 1, 2016 but before January 

15, 2017; and up to $95,284 per day for each such violation that occurred after November 2, 

2015 and assessed on or after January 15, 2017, pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation 

Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, as amended by 31 U.S.C. § 3701. See 40 C.F.R. Part 

19, 69 Fed. Reg. 7126 (Feb. 13, 2004); 73 Fed. Reg. 75,340 (Dec. 11, 2008); 78 Fed. Reg. 

66643-01 (Nov. 6, 2013); 81 Fed. Reg. 43091-96 (July 1, 2016); 82 Fed. Reg. 3636 (Jan. 12, 

2017). 

91. Further, as provided in C.R.S. §§ 25-7-121 and 122, the violations set forth above 

subject RMBC to injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $15,000 per day for each day of 

such violations. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, the United States of America and the State of Colorado, 

respectfully pray that this Court enter judgment against Defendant Rocky Mountain Bottle 

Company, LLC: 

A. Permanently enjoining RMBC from further violating the Act, the Colorado Act, 

the Colorado SIP, and the regulations implementing the Act, the Colorado Act, and the Colorado 

SIP; 

B. Order RMBC to take appropriate actions to remedy, mitigate, and offset the harm 

to public health and the environment caused by the violations of the Act, the Colorado Act, the 

Colorado SIP, and the regulations implementing the Act, the Colorado Act, and the Colorado 

SIP; 
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C. Asses a civil penalty against RMBC for each violation of the applicable 

provisions of the Act, the Colorado Act, the Colorado SIP, and the regulations implementing the 

Act, the Colorado Act, and the Colorado SIP up to $95,284 per day for each violation; and 

D. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 

      FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 
      NATHANIEL DOUGLAS 
      Deputy Chief 
      Environmental Enforcement Section 
      Environment and Natural Resources Division 
      U.S. Department of Justice 
 
 
      /s/ James D. Freeman  
      JAMES D. FREEMAN 
      Senior Attorney  

Environmental Enforcement Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
999 18th Street, South Terrace Suite 370 
Denver, CO 80202 
(303) 844-1489 (PHONE) 
(303) 844-1350 (FAX) 
Email:  james.freeman2@usdoj.gov 
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FOR THE STATE OF COLORADO 
 
CYNTHIA H. COFFMAN 
Attorney General 

 
 

/s/ Thomas A. Roan  
THOMAS A. ROAN, 30867* 
First Assistant Attorney General 
Air Quality Unit 
Natural Resources and Environment 
Attorneys for Colorado Department of Public 

 Health and Environment,  
Air Pollution Control Division 
Ralph L. Carr Colorado Judicial Center 
1300 Broadway, 7th Floor Floor 
Denver, Colorado  80203 
Telephone:  720-508-6268 
FAX:  720-508-6039 
E-Mail:  tom.roan@coag.gov 
*Counsel of Record 
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